
ARIZONA STATE SENATE 

46TH LEGISLATURE 
FIRST REGULAR SESSION 

 
MINUTES OF COMMITTEE ON 

GOVERNMENT 
 

DATE:  February 4, 2003 TIME:   1:30 p.m. ROOM: SHR 3 

 
CHAIRMAN: Senator Tibshraeny VICE CHAIRMAN: Senator Hellon 

  
ANALYST: Nadine Sapien COMMITTEE  

SECRETARY:   
Nancy L. DeMichele 

ASSISTANT   Dallas Gold 
ANALYST: 
INTERN: Matt D’Anna 

 

ATTENDANCE BILLS 

 

Committee Members Pr Ab Ex Bill Number Disposition 
Senator Cheuvront X   SB 1069   DPA 
Senator Garcia X   SB 1070   HELD 
Senator Harper X   SB 1147   DP 
Senator Jackson X   SB 1185 HELD 
Senator Mead X   SB 1186  DISC/HELD 
Senator Mitchell X   SB 1194   DP 
Senator Waring X   SB 1196   DP 
Senator Hellon, Vice Chair X   SB 1202   DPA 
Senator Tibshraeny, Chair X   SCR 1015   DP 
    SCR 1016   DP 

 
 

GOVERNOR’S APPOINTMENTS 
 

Name Position Recommendation 

   
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  Committee on Government 

 2  February 4, 2003 

 
Chairman Tibshraeny called the meeting to order at 1:30 p.m., and roll call was taken 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 
Senator Tibshraeny announced, without objection, the minutes of the meeting of January 28, 2003, 
are approved as distributed. 
 
CONSIDERATION OF BILLS 
 
SB 1070 – airport expansion oversight commission – HELD 
 
SB 1185 – political subdivisions; funds; unions – HELD 
 
Senator Tibshraeny announced the following bills will be held:  SB 1070 and SB 1185. 
 
SB 1069 - county treasurers; procedures – DO PASS AMENDED 
 
Nadine Sapien, Government Research Analyst, explained SB 1069 authorizes the county 
treasurer to require a subsequent purchaser to purchase all outstanding certificates of purchase 
previously issued on a property, if that person who holds the original certificate of purchase does not 
pay subsequent tax charges due on the property.  It also establishes a ten-year expiration date for tax 
liens purchased by August 31, 2002.  She noted it also extends the owner’s right of property tax 
valuation appeal and review to the holder of the certificate of purchase.  Ms. Sapien stated there are 
two amendments: 

• The Mitchell 11-line amendment dated 1/31/03 at 2:59 p.m. requires additional means of notice 
prior to the expiration of an old tax lien. 

• The Mitchell 4-line amendment dated 2/3/03 at 10:01 a.m. removes the right of property tax 
valuation appeal and review for the holder of the certificate of purchase. 

 
Doug Todd, Treasurer, Maricopa County, testified in support of SB 1069.  He stated that for a 
number of years the Maricopa County Treasurer has been involved in a program to modernize and 
update the statutes to eliminate some of the antique language and phrases.  He said this measure 
enables the County Treasurer to deliver better service to taxpayers in Arizona.  He commented that 
his office approves the amendments.  He noted that his office agreed to eliminate section 3 pertaining 
to certificate of purchase buyer right of property tax valuation appeal and review.  He indicated that 
the time is approaching for sunset of all certificates of purchase.  He said that his office is 
approaching that period of time very cautiously and that is the reason for adding the safeguards in the 
amendment for assumption of notice of service. 
 
 

Senator Hellon moved SB 1069 be returned with a DO PASS recommendation.   
 
Senator Hellon moved the 11-line Mitchell amendment dated 1/31/03 at 2:59 p.m. 
be ADOPTED (Attachment A).   The motion CARRIED by a voice vote. 

 
Senator Hellon moved the 4-line Mitchell amendment dated 2/03/03 at 10:01 a.m. 
be ADOPTED (Attachment B).  The motion CARRIED by a voice vote. 
 



  Committee on Government 

 3  February 4, 2003 

Senator Hellon moved SB 1069 be returned with an AS AMENDED, DO PASS 
recommendation.  The motion CARRIED by a roll call vote of 7-0-2 (Attachment 1). 
 

 
 
SB 1147 – special district elections; candidates – DO PASS 
 
Dallas Gold, Senate Research Assistant Government Analyst, explained SB 1147 allows a 
county board of supervisors to cancel an election for various special district offices in which only one 
person or no one files a nominating petition.  He said the measure also allows the board to appoint a 
person to fill the position or deem the office vacant.  
 
Senator Mead wanted to know what would happen with an individual who decides late to run as a 
write-in candidate.  Mr. Gold replied that person would be appointed to fill the office by the county 
board of supervisors.  Senator Mead asked what would happen if there were more than one 
candidate.  Mr. Gold responded if there was more than one position open, any write-in candidate after 
the cut-off date would be appointed to that office. 
 
Senator Tibshraeny announced the individuals who registered their position on the bill 
(Attachment C). 
 

Senator Hellon moved SB 1147 be returned with a DO PASS recommendation.   
The motion CARRIED by a roll call vote of 7-0-2 (Attachment 2). 

 
SB 1186 – outdoor lighting standards – DISCUSSION/HELD 
 
Ms. Sapien explained SB 1186 requires cities with over 50,000 people and State agencies to provide 
for efficient and effective lighting systems for new construction and major renovations.  She said the 
measure requires all outdoor lighting fixtures to be fully shielded with the exception of low-wattage 
lights.  She explained the 12-line Mitchell amendment dated 2/3/03 at 8:59 a.m. exempts street light 
fixtures in historical districts from shielding requirements and grandfathers those street light fixtures 
from the shielding requirements (Attachment D). 
 
Richard Green, Director, Kitt Peak National Observatory, Tucson, and Arizona Astronomers, 
testified in support of SB 1186.  He stated that Arizona remains a world leader in astronomy to the 
point that there has been massive federal and State investments in astronomy recently in the State.  
He cited some examples of recent investments in astronomy in the State.  He indicated that 
protection of the night sky is protection of the State natural resource that at the same time protects a 
large investment that is a highlight of the intellectual activity of this State.  He noted that those new 
investments were chosen because the cities and counties perceive that there is cooperation and 
understanding of governmental entities to help control light pollution.   He said astronomers support 
the control of stray light, which contributes to the positive environment for astronomy.  Mr. Green 
stated his organization strongly supports the State’s efforts as contained in SB 1186 to help preserve 
a natural dark sky. 
 
Senator Harper wanted to know the kind of effect this measure will have on businesses in the 
historical districts.  Mr. Green suggested that the sponsor of the bill could probably answer that 
question regarding the intent, and whether this measure will be limited to publicly-owned buildings or 
whether it goes broadly beyond that point.  He said his organization believes that good lighting and 
good lighting design is very positive for business as well as for the astronomy business. 



  Committee on Government 

 4  February 4, 2003 

 
David Crawford, testified in support of SB 1186.  He stated that he spoke on behalf of the original bill 
many years ago, and this measure helps astronomers and all citizens of Arizona.   He pointed out 
that good visibility means better nighttime safety, and is very pro-business.  Good lighting also saves 
a remarkable amount of energy.  He said this is an issue where everyone wins, and he is proud to 
speak in support of this measure. 
 
Kevin Biesty, Legislative Liaison, Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT), testified as 
neutral on SB 1186.  He stated ADOT would like to work with the sponsor through the process to 
minimize the fiscal impact and to concentrate on the safety issues that may occur on the highways 
with the lighting.   
 
Senator Mead wanted to know the extent of additional costs ADOT would incur by having to comply 
with this measure.  Mr. Biesty stated there are issues in this bill regarding full shield and partial shield 
that would be part of those costs.  He suggested that a representative from ADOT is present who 
could answer that question. 
 
Michael Manthey, State Traffic Engineer, ADOT, stated that without having the opportunity to 
determine the full impact, ADOT estimates it would cost approximately $3.6 million to retrofit existing 
fixtures that would not comply with this bill.  Senator Mead asked how often a highway light fixture 
needs to be refitted.  Mr. Manthey responded he would estimate five years, but it depends on the type 
of fixture.  He indicated that ADOT currently maintains the light fixtures as they burn out, and there is 
no life-cycle replacement ability because of the funding situation.  Mr. Manthey explained that ADOT 
uses the highest energy-efficient sources available.  He said ADOT currently designs all new roadway 
lighting with cut-off lights, which he believes are fully-shielded lights.  He believes that ADOT is in the 
forefront in the utilization of this type of lighting.  With respect to sign lighting, he said that ADOT uses 
a “down” light, whereas most other states use an “up” light for signs.   
 
Mr. Biesty stated that ADOT would like to meet with the sponsors of this bill because ADOT uses 
different manuals to design highways.  He cited an example of light that reflects into the sky versus 
light that reflects into a house, and said a shield is used to prevent light from being reflected into a 
house.  Senator Mead asked whether other states have similar legislation.   Mr. Biesty responded he 
has not researched other states, but said most of ADOT’s bulbs are shielded from the sky. 
 
Senator Tibshraeny asked whether there is a cost to ADOT.  Mr. Biesty responded ADOT was 
attempting to understand the bill.  He said the beginning deals with cities and towns and another 
portion of the bill deals with capital projects.  He said the bill is unclear as to whether the measure 
applies to freeways and highways.  He suggested having more time to discuss the ambiguities with 
the sponsors.  Mr. Biesty noted that ADOT has an issue with the removal of the partial shielding 
language.  
 
Senator Hellon asked whether the bill is retroactive.  Ms. Sapien responded that normally a bill such 
as this would be prospective; however, section 5 of the bill contains non-conforming light fixture 
language that states any changes to the statute are allowed if the fixtures are distinguished between 
the hours of midnight and sunrise by automatic shut-off.  She believes the issue relating to shielding 
is not necessarily prospective. 
 
Bobbi Sparrow, Government Relations Director, Arizona Automobile Dealers Association, 
testified in opposition to SB 1186.  She stated discussions have taken place with Senator Mitchell and 
Senator Giffords, and they did not realize that the bill brought in the private sector.  She said the 



  Committee on Government 

 5  February 4, 2003 

measure is also not prospective; therefore, any car lots with all-night lighting would have to be 
changed immediately.  She said the cost would be approximately $100,000 for a small car dealership 
in midtown to change everything.  She indicated the sponsors would be willing to work with the 
Association because of the inclusion of the private sector. 
 
John Mangum, Attorney, Arizona Food Marketing Alliance, testified in opposition to SB 1186.  He 
stated that the Alliance includes retail grocers and convenience stores in the State. He explained the 
primary reason for the opposition is because this bill applies to the private sector.  He said the 
provisions in the bill reduce the amount of light of an average fixture by half that a commercial user 
could install in a parking lot.  He indicated it creates a safety and security problem for stores and 
establishments that remain open after dark. 
 
Scott Smith, Legislative Liaison, Arizona Department of Administration (DOA), testified as 
neutral on SB 1186.  He said he echoes previous comments regarding public safety.  He said DOA is 
not entirely sure of the intent of this bill, and would like the opportunity to work with the sponsors to 
ensure any obstacles can be resolved.  He pointed out that DOA is particularly concerned with 
anything that would diminish the lighting in the Capitol Mall area because of public safety reasons.  
He noted that DOA also has concerns that the lighting requirements would have on construction of 
future and existing State prisons.  He commented DOA would like to discuss these issues with the 
sponsors to ensure there are no unintended consequences. 
 
Senator Tibshraeny announced that one of the sponsors, Senator Mitchell, is unavailable at this time 
because he is testifying on another issue. 
 
Senator Giffords, also a sponsor, stated this issue impacts the State on a variety issues including 
the economic and educational impact.  She said she does not deny that there is a possible safety 
issue, but feels that some of the concerns mentioned are not justified.  She commented other 
communities are passing similar types of legislation, and the sponsors believe it was important to 
hear testimony.  She said she has discussed the concerns with stakeholders and hopefully will draft 
some amendments during the next few weeks. 
 
Senator Tibshraeny said he has concerns regarding the private sector and costs to cities and towns. 
He said he appreciated the group driving from Tucson; however, believes the issue should be 
directed more towards individual municipalities. 
 
Senator Mead asked Mr. Green how neighborhood light pollution affects Arizona being the leader in 
astronomy.  Mr. Green responded that is a very good question, and the answer is that it does affect 
astronomy.  He explained it is a statewide environmental and quality of life issue as well because it 
affects the decision for people and businesses to locate in Arizona. 
 
Senator Tibshraeny announced SB 1186 will be held. 
 
SB 1194 – military airport preservation committee; members – DO PASS 
 
Ms. Sapien explained SB 1194 adds two new members to the Military Airport Preservation 
Committee.    
 
Michael Racy, Lobbyist, Diamond Ventures, testified in support of SB 1194.  He stated that the 
Military Airport Preservation Committee has been in place for a number of years.  He indicated that 
originally there were several issues relating to Luke Air Force Base and surrounding encroachment.  



  Committee on Government 

 6  February 4, 2003 

There were also issues in the area of the Marine Air Station in Yuma.  He said this bill proposes to 
add two private property owners from the Pima County area around Davis Monthan Air Force Base 
because the military base encroachment land use issues are intensifying.   
 

Senator Hellon moved SB 1194 be returned with a DO PASS recommendation.   
The motion CARRIED by a roll call vote of 8-0-1 (Attachment 3). 

 
SB 1196 – corrections department; procurement code exemption – DO PASS 
 
Ms. Sapien explained SB 1196 repeals the Arizona Department of Corrections’ (ADC) exemption 
from the Procurement Code for purchases of food commodities for the inmate stores as well as for 
use in preparation of meals for inmates. 
 
Mike Kowren, Chief Procurement Officer, ADC, testified as neutral to SB 1196.  He provided 
background information regarding ADC’s request for the exemption.  He said the purchase of food for 
inmate meals is moot at this time because ADC is 100% privatized for food service.  He explained 
that the exemption from the Procurement Code for the purchase of food commodities for inmate 
stores was requested originally to allow ADC to procure materials specifically for the holiday season.  
He commented that ADC had stopped allowing inmates to receive food packages during the holiday 
season because of the cost of staff time to inspect packages.  He said that exemption has allowed 
ADC to move through the process to acquire items in the marketplace for the inmates to purchase 
during the holiday season.  Mr. Kowren stated that ADC currently has twenty contracts in place 
covering 428 different items with a volume of approximately $22 million annually.  He noted the 
monies used by inmates to purchase those items are funds earned or sent to them by outside 
relatives.   
 
In response to Senator Tibshraeny, Mr. Kowren stated that ADC is neutral on SB 1196.  He explained 
that under the Procurement rules and authority, ADC could conduct business through the process.  
He said ADC does not have the ability to ensure that merchandise is available during the holiday 
season.  He said the bill does not have any major affect on ADC. 
 
Senator Mead said he is puzzled as to why this bill is being presented if the group that is being 
changed does not have any concerns as to the change.  Senator Tibshraeny explained that it is not 
ADC’s bill, but it will affect ADC neutrally.   
 
In response to Senator Cheuvront, Mr. Kowren said this bill does not have any effect on the 
procurement process.  He said ADC currently completes invitations for bids for all of the acquisition 
materials and services even though ADC is exempt, in order to maintain its fiduciary responsibility.  
He said the only way ADC would be affected by this bill is merchandise acquisition during the holiday 
season.   
 
Robert Murillo, business owner, testified in support of SB 1196.  He stated that his company won a 
bid to supply food products to prisons.  He indicated that a new solicitation will circumvent the 
contract he has with the State.  He said his company is the only snack food company in the State that 
is certified Arizona-grown by the Arizona Agriculture Department.  He explained that over 51% of his 
company’s total goods are grown in Arizona.  He said he met with ADC several times; however, ADC 
continues to point out that it is exempt.  He pointed out that by having the exemption, it allows ADC a 
way to not support small local businesses in Arizona.   
 



  Committee on Government 

 7  February 4, 2003 

Byron Arnold, President, Kline Pickle Company, Phoenix, testified in support of SB 1196.  He 
said he agrees with the comments of Mr. Murillo.  His company was bidding non-brand specific 
products and all of a sudden his company was excluded from bidding.  He believes that the 
guidelines of the procurement rules should be followed.   
 
Senator Mead asked Mr. Arnold whether ADC is able to obtain a better price with companies such as 
his.  Mr. Arnold responded that is correct because most of his company’s produce is purchased in 
Arizona.  He said he is currently negotiating this year’s contract.  He noted that there is no freight to 
pay, and approximately 50% to 75% are products of Arizona. 
 
Doug Mahoney, stated he was the individual whose company was awarded the bids to provide 
snack items in the State prisons.  He said the adverse changes in the contract were so devastating 
that he is no longer in the business.  He explained that the bidding ceased to be competitive because 
ADC selected certain items to stock in the prison stores.  He indicated that in his situation the prisons 
represented 47.8% of his volume of sales.  He said he elected to sell his business and satisfy his 
obligations as a distributor.  He suggested that perhaps the language needs to be changed or altered 
so that the competitive nature continues forward. 
 
Senator Aguirre, bill sponsor, stated clearly small business owners are experiencing problems 
despite the fact that ADC indicates there is no problem.  She said ADC states that it is neutral and it 
will not happen again.  She commented that this is a small business issue, and the State should be 
supporting Arizona companies. 
 
In response to Senator Garcia, Senator Aguirre stated that there is nothing in this bill that specifies 
this issue only relates to the holidays.  She noted that ADC stopped one company from supplying 
goods during the middle of the year. 
 

Senator Hellon moved SB 1196 be returned with a DO PASS recommendation.   
 
Senator Harper explained his vote.  He stated that as a small business owner, he has been slighted 
on several occasions because his competitor had a better name brand.  He will vote “aye.” 
 
Senator Mead explained his vote.  He stated he was somewhat confused by ADC taking a neutral 
position on something that addressed its procurement situation.  He said he is pleased testimony was 
taken, and will vote “aye.” 
 
Senator Hellon explained her vote.  She said she will vote “aye” and believes the State should be the 
leaders to support Arizona businesses whenever possible. 
 
Senator Tibshraeny explained his vote.  He said if there are issues, it does not help if an agency is 
neutral.  He said based on testimony heard today, he will vote “aye.”  He said it is unfortunate that 
agencies cannot take a position on bills that affect those agencies, if that is correct. 
 
Senator Cheuvront commented he believes a law was passed several years ago that an agency 
could not lobby in support or opposition of a bill, and could only take a neutral position. 
 

The motion CARRIED by a roll call vote of 9-0-0 (Attachment 4). 
 
SB 1202 – legislative committee; state; Indian nations – DO PASS AMENDED 
 



  Committee on Government 

 8  February 4, 2003 

Matt D’Anna, Government Research Intern, explained SB 1202 establishes a 13-member joint 
legislative committee to advance relations between state, county, Indian nations and tribal 
governments.  He stated that the committee expires on January 1, 2014.  He explained a 9-line 
Jackson amendment dated 2/3/03 at 1:43 p.m. makes technical changes, and itemized the other 
conditions of the amendment.  
 
Senator Jackson stated it is a good bill.  He said at the first meeting of the Committee he provided a 
report and this bill is a continuation of that effort.  He reiterated that a formal relationship between the 
State and Tribes is needed in order to resolve certain issues.   
 
Senator Tibshraeny asked whether this is a new committee or a continuation of the other committees 
mentioned.  Mr. D’Anna replied it is a new committee that replaces previous committees in statute. 
 
Senator Harper stated he noticed the reimbursement allowance for travel expenses and did not see a 
cap placed on those expenses.  He asked whether the statute cited has a cap on the amount of 
expenses that can be reimbursed.  Mr. D’Anna responded it is his understanding that there is not a 
cap in statute, but he will research that issue.  Senator Harper said it is somewhat vague as to the 
amount to be spent on expenditures.   
 

Senator Hellon moved SB 1202 be returned with a DO PASS recommendation.   
 
Senator Hellon moved the 9-line Jackson amendment dated 2/3/03 at 1:43 p.m. be 
ADOPTED (Attachment E).   The motion CARRIED by a voice vote. 
 
Senator Hellon moved SB 1202 be returned with an AS AMENDED, DO PASS 
recommendation.   
 

Senator Hellon explained her vote.  She stated that although she supports the idea, she opposes 
putting new committees into statute.  She said she will vote “no.” 
 
Senator Tibshraeny explained his vote.  He stated that in order to get this bill to the floor, he will vote 
“aye.” 
 

The motion CARRIED by a roll call vote of 8-1-0 (Attachment 5). 
 
SCR 1015 – honoring the silver haired legislature – DO PASS 
 
Mr. D’Anna explained SCR 1015 honors the Arizona Silver Haired Legislature (ASHL).  He said ASHL 
is a non-partisan body consisting of citizens 60 years of age or older who are elected by their peers.  
He noted that members represent all 30 legislative districts in Arizona, and this resolution authorized 
the President of the Senate and Speaker of the House of Representatives to present issues to ASHL 
for deliberation. 
 
In response to Senator Harper, Mr. D’Anna stated it is his understanding that this measure does not 
imply that ASHL has any statutory authority nor will it in the future. 
 
Carolyn  Maxon, Speaker Pro-Tem, ASHL, testified in support of SCR 1015.  She said ASHL has 
worked with the Legislature for a number of years, and would appreciate an acknowledgment of 
ASHL’s process since it is the only silver haired legislature of the 27 states that have them that has 
not been acknowledged by their Legislature.   She said ASHL has a legislative session during the first 



  Committee on Government 

 9  February 4, 2003 

week of October.  She indicated that ASHL also has committees, conducts research, and does many 
of the same things similar to the State Legislature.  Ms. Maxon said ASHL would like to gain the 
status that the silver haired legislature has in the State of Texas.  She said generally ASHL obtains 
signatures for the Legislators; however, it can also be an asset in obtaining public response.  She 
commented that ASHL’s issues are not necessarily always directed at seniors, but is concerned 
about a wide range of issues. 
 

Senator Hellon moved SCR 1015 be returned with a DO PASS recommendation.  
The motion CARRIED by a roll call vote of 9-0-0 (Attachment 6). 

 
SCR 1016 – Ronald Reagan day – DO PASS 
 
Mr. D’Anna explained SCR 1016 recognizes February 6, 2003 as Ronald Reagan Day in Arizona, 
and encourages citizens to commemorate the President on his 92nd birthday. 
 
Senator Cheuvront asked whether the Legislature has ever commemorated a living past President 
previously.  Mr. D’Anna responded it is his understanding that such a commemoration has not 
occurred; however, he is the oldest living President.  Senator Jackson wanted to know why a special 
resolution is needed when Arizona already has a President’s Day.  Senator Tibshraeny stated that 
Senator Martin sponsored this resolution; however, he is unable to be present to testify today.  
Senator Harper stated President Reagan is one of the greatest Presidents this nation has ever had, 
and this is a resolution to recognize him.  Senator Tibshraeny stated this measure is a recognition, 
whereas Presidents’ Day is a holiday. 
 

Senator Hellon moved SCR 1016 be returned with a DO PASS recommendation.  
 
Carol Stageberg, testified in opposition to SCR 1016.  She said she agrees with Senator Jackson 
that there are enough holidays in February.  She said if anyone’s birthday should be commemorated, 
perhaps it should be President Kennedy.  She stated that President Reagan was a great 
communicator, but she believes the ‘90s were a better period of time than the ‘80s.   
 
Senator Cheuvront explained his vote.  He stated he does not believe one President should have a 
special day when there have been many great Presidents in our history.  He said he will vote “no.” 
 
Senator Garcia explained his vote.  He stated with all due respect to President Reagan’s 
accomplishments, he will vote “no.” 
 
Senator Hellon explained her vote.  She said she believes President Reagan deserves to be honored, 
but hopes this will not set a new precedent.  She will vote “aye.” 

 
The motion CARRIED by a roll call vote of 6-3-0 (Attachment 7). 

 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 2:50 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Nancy L. DeMichele 
Committee Secretary 
 
(Tapes and attachments on file in the Secretary of the Senate’s Office/Resource Center, Room 115.) 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.7
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /sRGB
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /ArialUnicodeMS
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 5.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


